
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Criminal Action No.: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

1. JAYSON JEFFREY PENN,

2. MIKELL REEVE FRIES,

3. SCOTT JAMES BRADY,

4. ROGER BORN AUSTIN,

Defendants. 

INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges that: 

COUNT 1 

(Conspiracy to Restrain Trade) 

1. Beginning at least as early as 2012 and continuing through at least early

2017, the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the State and District of 

Colorado and elsewhere, JAYSON PENN, MIKELL FRIES, SCOTT BRADY, and 

ROGER AUSTIN (“Defendants”), together with co-conspirators known and unknown to 

the Grand Jury, entered into and engaged in a continuing combination and conspiracy 

to suppress and eliminate competition by rigging bids and fixing prices and other price-

related terms for broiler chicken products sold in the United States.  The combination 

and conspiracy engaged in by the Defendants and co-conspirators was a per se 
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unlawful, and thus unreasonable, restraint of interstate trade and commerce in violation 

of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. 

2. The charged combination and conspiracy consisted of a continuing 

agreement, understanding, and concert of action among the Defendants and co-

conspirators, the substantial terms of which were to rig bids and to fix, maintain, 

stabilize, and raise prices and other price-related terms for broiler chicken products sold 

in the United States. 

I. BACKGROUND 

3. Broiler chickens are chickens raised to provide meat for human 

consumption.  Several companies (“Suppliers”) produced broiler chicken products in the 

United States for sale either directly or indirectly such as through a distributor and a 

distribution center (“DC”) to restaurants, grocery retailers, and others.  During the time 

period of the conspiracy alleged in this Indictment, those Suppliers included, but were 

not limited to, Supplier-1, Supplier-2, Supplier-3, Supplier-4, Supplier-5, Supplier-6, and 

Supplier-7. 

4. Restaurants, grocery retailers, and others who purchased large volumes 

of broiler chicken products generally received bids from or negotiated prices and other 

price-related terms, including discount levels, with Suppliers directly or, in the case of 

some fast-food restaurants, also known as quick-service restaurants (“QSRs”), having 

many independent franchisees, through a centralized buying cooperative. 

5. Some purchasers of broiler chicken products used a “cost-plus” pricing 

model for 8-piece bone-in broiler chicken products (alternatively called “8-piece COB” 

for 8-piece chicken-on-the-bone) that varied month-to-month or period-to-period 
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depending on the price of chicken feed and that also provided Suppliers with a per-

pound margin and an “adjustment” that was effectively an additional per-pound margin.  

8-piece COB consisted of two breasts, two wings, two thighs, and two drumsticks. 

6. The price of 8-piece COB often served as a base price for other broiler 

chicken products.  Dark meat was often priced at a certain number of cents per pound 

less than, or “back” from, the price per pound of 8-piece COB.  As a result, a smaller 

number of cents back translated into a higher price for dark meat compared to a greater 

number of cents back.  For example, “30 back” was a higher price for dark meat than 

“31 back.” 

7. Prices for broiler chicken products were sometimes tied to a market index, 

such as the Urner-Barry Index (“UB”), as an alternative.  For example, cases of wings 

sold in bulk were sometimes priced at the UB per-pound price (“market”) and cases of 

pre-counted wings were sometimes priced at the UB per-pound price plus a specified 

number of cents per pound (“market plus”). 

8. Bidding and negotiations usually occurred annually toward the end of the 

calendar year and established prices and other price-related terms, including discount 

levels, for the following calendar year.  In some instances, however, bidding and 

negotiation toward the end of the calendar year established prices and other price-

related terms, including discount levels, for multiple calendar years.  In yet other 

instances, bidding and negotiations occurred throughout the year and sometimes 

established prices and other price-related terms, including promotional discounts, for 

discrete periods of time. 

9. Bidding and negotiations often involved weekly volume commitments 
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between Suppliers and their respective customers.  If, in a given week, a Supplier could 

not meet its volume commitment to a customer, the Supplier could often buy broiler 

chicken products from another Supplier to cover the shortfall.  Alternatively, the Supplier 

could “short” the customer by not fulfilling its volume commitment that week. 

II. DEFENDANTS AND OTHERS 

10. JAYSON PENN was an executive vice president at Supplier-1—located in 

Greeley, Colorado—starting in approximately January 2012. PENN became the 

President and Chief Executive Officer of Supplier-1 in approximately March 2019. 

11. ROGER AUSTIN was a vice president at Supplier-1 starting in 

approximately February 2007. 

12. MIKELL FRIES was a sales manager at Supplier-2—which was 

headquartered in the State of Georgia— starting in approximately 2004.  In 

approximately 2012, FRIES was appointed to Supplier-2’s board of directors.  In 

approximately 2016, FRIES became the President of Supplier-2. 

13. SCOTT BRADY was a vice president at Supplier-1 starting in 

approximately 1999, and a vice president at Supplier-2 starting in approximately August 

2012. 

14. Supplier-1-Employee-1 was Supplier-1’s President and Chief Executive 

Officer starting in approximately January 2011 until approximately March 2019.  

Supplier-1-Employee-1 supervised PENN. 

15. Supplier-1-Employee-2 was a director and manager at Supplier-1 from 

approximately September 2012 until approximately May 2015, and a vice president at 

Supplier-1 from approximately March 2015 until approximately May 2016. 
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16. Supplier-1-Employee-3 was a director and manager at Supplier-1 starting 

in approximately March 2010. 

17. Supplier-1-Employee-4 was an employee of Supplier-1 starting at least as 

early as approximately September 2012. 

18. Supplier-3-Employee-1 was an employee of Supplier-3 starting in 

approximately January 1988. 

19. Supplier-3-Employee-2 was a manager and director at Supplier-3 starting 

in approximately 2009. 

20. Supplier-6-Employee-1 was an employee of Supplier-6. 

21. QSR-1 was a nationwide restaurant franchise that negotiated with 

Suppliers through a centralized buying cooperative, Cooperative-1.  Cooperative-1-

Employee-1 was an employee of Cooperative-1 from approximately June 2008 until 

approximately May 2014.  Cooperative-1-Employee-2 was an employee of Cooperative-

1 from approximately August 2004 until approximately February 2017.  Cooperative-1-

Employee-3 was an employee of Cooperative-1 from approximately May 2014 until 

approximately December 2014.  Cooperative-1-Employee-4 was an employee of 

Cooperative-1 in 2014. 

22. QSR-2 was a nationwide restaurant franchise that negotiated with 

Suppliers through a centralized buying cooperative, Cooperative-2.  Cooperative-2-

Employee-1 was an employee of Cooperative-2 starting in approximately July 2008. 

23. QSR-3 was a nationwide restaurant franchise that negotiated directly with 

Suppliers.  QSR-3-Employee-1 was an employee of QSR-3 starting in approximately 

September 2001. 
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